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Preface
1 Father Louis Hennepin’s Description of Louisiana, Newly Discovered to the
Southwest of New France by Order of the King, Translated from the original by
Marion E. Cross, with an introduction by Grace Lee Nute.  (Published for the
Minnesota Society of Colonial Dames of America, The University of Minnesota
Press, 1938), pp. 90, 94, 104, 114, 117; William Watts Folwell, A History of
Minnesota, vol. 1, (St. Paul: Minnesota Historical Society, 1956, third printing
1979), pp. 27-30; William Lass, Minnesota, A History, pp. 59-60.

2 Section 701.(a) Findings, Public Law 100-696, November 18, 1988, 102
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Comprehensive Management Plan, (May 1995), pp. 7-9.

4 “Railroads, Power Dam Figure in Coon Rapids Early History,” Anoka County
Union Centennial, September, 1965, Hennepin Parks, Coon Rapids Dam, his-
toric files, Anoka County Union Herald, September, 1965.

5 Lucile M. Kane, The Falls of St. Anthony: The Waterfall that Built
Minneapolis, (St. Paul: Minnesota Historical Society Press, 1987; originally
published as The Waterfall that Built a City: The Falls of St. Anthony in
Minneapolis, 1966), uses this as her title for Chapter 1, see p. 1.
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1 Newton H. Winchell, Geology of Minnesota: Minnesota Geological and
Natural History Survey, Final Report, v. 2, (Minneapolis, Minnesota: Johnson,
Smith & Harrison, state printers, 1888).

2 Warren Upham, The Glacial Lake Agassiz, Geological Society of America
Monograph 25, 658 (Washington: Government Printing Office, 1896).

3 Frank Leverett and Frederick W. Sardeson, “Surface formations and agricul-
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Bulletin 14, (Minneapolis: University of Minnesota, 1919).
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United States Geological Survey Professional Paper, (1929), 72 pp.
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6 Frederick W. Sardeson, Minneapolis-St. Paul Folio: U. S. Geological Survey
Atlas, Folio 201, (1916).

7 M. Stuvier, “Evidence for variation of atmospheric C-14 content in the late
Quaternary,” in K. K. Turekian, ed., Late Cenozoic glacial ages (New Haven,
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and postglacial time,” Minnesota Geological Survey Bulletin 26, (1935), 116 pp.

9 H. C. Hobbs, “Quaternary geology of southeastern Minnesota,” in Field trip
guidebook for the Upper Mississippi Valley: Minnesota, Iowa, and Wisconsin,
Minnesota Geological Survey, Guidebook Series No. 15, (St. Paul: University
of Minnesota, 1987), p. 161.

10 C. L. Matsch, “Pleistocene geology of the St. Paul Park and Prescott quad-
rangles,” (M.S. thesis, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, 1962).

11 J. H. Mossler, “Bedrock geology,” Plate 2 in N. H. Balaban and H. C. Hobbs,
eds., Geologic Atlas of Dakota County, County Atlas Series C-6, Minnesota
Geological Survey, (St. Paul: University of Minnesota, 1990).

12 R. V. Ruhe and L. M. Gould, “Glacial geology of the Dakota County area,”
Minnesota Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 65, (1954) pp. 769-92.

13 L. Martin, The physical geography of Wisconsin, Wisconsin Geological and
Natural History Survey Bulletin 36, (Madison, 1932, second edition), 608 pp.

14 Herbert E. Wright, Jr., “History of the Mississippi River below St. Paul,” in
Pleistocene evolution of the Upper Mississippi Valley, Minnesota Geological
Survey, University of Minnesota, St. Paul (1985).

15 James C. Knox and W. C. Johnson, “Late Quaternary alluviation in the
Driftless Area of southwestern Wisconsin,” in James C. Knox and D. M.
Mickelson, eds., Late Quaternary Environments of Wisconsin (Madison:
Wisconsin Geological and Natural History Survey, 1974), pp. 134-62.

16 Herbert E. Wright, Jr., “Quaternary History of Minnesota,” in P. K. Sims,
and G. B. Morey, eds., Geology of Minnesota: A Centennial Volume, Minnesota
Geological Survey, (St. Paul: University of Minnesota, 1972), pp. 515-47.

17 D. M. Mickelson, Lee Clayton, D. S. Fullerton, and H. W. Borns, Jr., “The
Late Wisconsin glacial record of the Laurentide Ice Sheet in the United
States,” in S. C. Porter, ed., The Late Pleistocene, vol. 2, pp. 3-37,
(Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 1983).

18 H. D. Mooers, “Quaternary history and ice dynamics of the St. Croix phase
of Late Wisconsin glaciation, central Minnesota,” (Ph.D. dissertation,
University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, 1988).

19 H. D. Mooers, and J. D. Lehr, A terrestrial record of Laurentide Ice Sheet reor-
ganization during Heinrich events, (In press).

20 L. Clayton, Pleistocene Geology of the Superior Region, Wisconsin,
Information Circular No. 46, (Madison: Wisconsin Geological and Natural
History Survey, 1984).

21 G. N. Meyer, R. W. Baker, and C. J. Patterson, “Surficial geology,” Plate 3 in
L. Swanson, and G. N. Meyer, eds., Geologic Atlas of Washington County,
County Atlas Series C-5, Minnesota Geological Survey (St. Paul: University of
Minnesota, 1990).

22 J. H. Zumberge, The lakes of Minnesota: Their origin and classification.
Bulletin 35, Minnesota Geological Survey, (Minneapolis: University of
Minnesota Press, 1952). 

23 Ibid.

24 J. C. Knox, “Response of river systems to Holocene climates,” in Herbert E.
Wright, Jr., ed., Late Quaternary Environments of the United States, Vol. 1
(Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 1983), pp. 26-41.

25 Clark A. Dobbs and H. D. Mooers, A phase I archaeological and geomorpholog-
ical study of Lake Pepin and the upper reaches of Navigation Pool 4, Upper
Mississippi River, Institute for Minnesota Archaeology, Reports of Investigations
No. 44, Prepared for the St. Paul District, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (1991).

26 Mississippi River Commission (MRC), “Detail Map of the Upper
Mississippi River from the Mouth of the Ohio River to Minneapolis,
Minnesota, in Eighty-Nine Sheets.”

Chapter 2
1 This discussion is structured using historic contexts for the precontact and
early contact periods developed for the Minnesota State Historic Preservation
Office.  Unless otherwise noted, information presented here has been drawn
from these contexts and other important sources on regional Native American
history.  Clark A. Dobbs, “Outline of Historic Contexts for the Prehistoric
Period (Ca. 12,000 B.P. - A.D. 1700),” a document in the series Minnesota
History in Sites and Structures: A Comprehensive Planning Series.  Reports of
Investigation No. 37, prepared for the Minnesota State Historic Preservation
Office, St. Paul (Minneapolis: Institute for Minnesota Archaeology, 1988);
Clark A. Dobbs, “Historic Context Outlines: The Contact Period Contexts (Ca.
1630 A.D. - 1820 A.D.),” a document in the series Minnesota History in Sites
and Structures: A Comprehensive Planning Series, Reports of Investigation No.
37, prepared for the Minnesota State Historic Preservation Office, St. Paul
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(Minneapolis: Institute for Minnesota Archaeology, 1988); Elden Johnson, The
Prehistoric Peoples of Minnesota, Minnesota Prehistoric Archaeology Series No.
3 (St. Paul: Minnesota Historical Society, 1988; revised 3rd edition); A. Jalbert
, David F. Overstreet, and John D. Richards, Cultural Resources Inventory of
the Upper Mississippi River, St. Anthony Falls to Pool 10, Wisconsin, Iowa,
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University of Minnesota Press, 1983), pp. 142-65.
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5 D. K. Higginbottom, “An Inventory of Fluted Projectile Points from
Minnesota,” a paper presented at the 54th Annual Plains Conference, Iowa
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Artifacts,” Memoirs of the American Anthropological Association No. 49 (1937);
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Department, Minnesota Historical Society, 1993), prepared for the Minnesota
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8 O. C. Shane, “Radiocarbon Assays of Bone from the Browns Valley Skeleton,”
final report to the Minnesota Historical Society for contract 90-C2443
(1991); Malik and Bakken, “Bradbury Brook Site.”

9 Frank Florin, “Late Paleo-Indians of Minnesota and Vegetation Changes from
10,500-8,000 BP,” 2 vols. (Master’s thesis, University of Minnesota,
Minneapolis, 1996).

10 Ibid, p. 191.

11 Carole Zellie, The Mississippi and St. Paul: A Planning Study of Interpretive
Potentials, prepared for the Ramsey County Historical Society (1988).
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Minnesota Historical Society, (1971); Michael G. Michlovic, “The Archaeology
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Prehistoric Archaeology Series (St. Paul: Minnesota Historical Society, 1969).
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Historical Society, 1993).

16 Elden Johnson and P. S. Taylor, Spring Lake Archeology: The Lee Mill Cave,
Science Bulletin No. 3, part 2, (St. Paul, Minnesota: The Science Museum of the
St. Paul Institute, 1956).

17 B. E. Perkl, “King Coulee (21WB56): A Stratified, Multi-Component Site
on Lake Pepin, Wabasha County, Minnesota,” (Master’s thesis, University of
Minnesota, Minneapolis, 1996).

18 Johnson and Taylor, Spring Lake Archeology.

19 The advent of pottery provides archaeologists with a new means of dating
and distinguishing between archaeological cultures.  As with projectile points,
the form, composition, and decoration of pottery vary over time and space.  

20 Lloyd A. Wilford, “The La Moille Rock Shelter,” The Minnesota
Archaeologist 19:2 (1954):17-24.

21 Randy E. Withrow, Elden Johnson, and Mary Whelan, The Schilling Site
(21WA1), Cottage Grove, Minnesota (prepared for the Advisory Committee on
Historic Preservation, Cottage Grove, Minnesota, 1987).

22 Elden Johnson, Spring Lake Archeology: The Sorg Site, Science Bulletin No.
3, part 3, (St. Paul, Minnesota: The Science Museum of the St. Paul Institute,
1959).

23 Guy Gibbon, and C. A. H. Caine, “The Middle to Late Woodland Transition in
Eastern Minnesota,” Midcontinental Journal of Archaeology 5:1 (1980):57-72.

24 C. M. Arzigian, “The Emergence of Horticultural Economies in
Southwestern Wisconsin,” in W. F. Keegan, ed., Emergent Horticultural
Economies of the Eastern Woodlands, Center for Archaeological Investigations,
Occasional Paper No. 7, (Carbondale: Southern Illinois University, 1987), pp.
217-42,

25 Gibbon and Caine, “The Middle to Late Woodland.”

26 R. C. Mallam, The Iowa Effigy Mound Manifestation: An Interpretative
Model, Report No. 9, Office of the State Archaeologist, Iowa City (1976).

27 Johnson, The Sorg Site; P. S. Jenson, “The Bremer Village and Mound Site,”
(Master’s thesis, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, 1959).

28 Guy E. Gibbon, The Sheffield Site: An Oneota Site on the St. Croix River,
Minnesota Prehistoric Archaeology Series No. 11, (St. Paul: Minnesota
Historical Society, 1973).

29 Mildred M. Wedel, “Peering at the Ioway Indians Through the Mist of Time:
1630 - circa 1700,” Journal of the Iowa Archaeological Society 33 (1986):1-74.
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314; Clark A. Dobbs, “Oneota Settlement Patterns in the Blue Earth River
Valley,” (Ph.D. dissertation, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, 1984).

31 Roy W. Meyer, History of the Santee Sioux: United States Indian Policy on
Trial (Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press, 1967).

32 Janet D. Spector, What this awl means: feminist archaeology at a Wahpeton
Dakota village (St. Paul: Minnesota Historical Society Press, 1993).

Chapter 3
1 William Watts Folwell, A History of Minnesota, vol. 1, (St. Paul: Minnesota
Historical Society, 1956, third printing 1979), pp. 1, 4-7; William Lass,
Minnesota, A History, (New York: W. W. Norton & Co., 1998; 1st edition
1977), p. 56.

2 Folwell, Minnesota, p. 13; Lass, Minnesota, A History, pp. 56-57.

3 Folwell, Minnesota, pp. 16-18. The new governor-general of New France,
Louis de Baude, comte de Frontenac, “the greatest figure in Canadian history,”
would send Marquette and Joliet off on their journey.  Folwell, Minnesota, p.
19; Lass, Minnesota, A History, p. 58.

4 Folwell, Minnesota, pp. 22-23; Lass, Minnesota, A History, pp. 58-59.



R
IV

E
R

 O
F

 H
IS

T
O

R
Y

:
A

 H
is

to
ri

c 
R

es
ou

rc
es

 S
tu

dy
 o

f t
he

 M
is

si
ss

ip
pi

 N
at

io
na

l R
iv

er
 a

nd
 R

ec
re

at
io

n 
A

re
a

190

5 Louis Hennepin, Father Louis Hennepin’s Description of Louisiana, Newly
Discovered to the Southwest of New France by Order of the King, (Minneapolis: The
University of Minnesota Press, 1938), pp. 94, 104; Folwell, Minnesota, pp. 27-29.

6 Hennepin, Description of Louisiana, pp. 90, 114, 117; Folwell, Minnesota, p. 30.

7 Folwell, Minnesota, p. 30; Lass, Minnesota, A History, pp. 59-60.

8 Hennepin, Description of Louisiana, p. 117.

9 Ibid., p. 118.

10 Folwell, Minnesota, pp. 37-39.

11 Gary Clayton Anderson, Kinsmen of Another Kind, Dakota-White Relations
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12 Folwell, Minnesota, pp. 36-41; Lass, Minnesota, A History, p. 60.

13 Folwell, Minnesota, pp. 44-52; Lass, Minnesota, A History, pp. 63, 65.

14 Lass, Minnesota, A History, p. 41.

15 Anderson, Kinsmen, pp. 23-25.

16 Anderson, Kinsmen, pp. 26-27; problems with the Chippewa stories of tak-
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17 Ibid., p. 53.

18 Ibid., pp. 25-26.

19 Lass, Minnesota, A History, p. 43.

20 Anderson, Kinsmen, pp. 66-67; Folwell, Minnesota, p. 53; John Parker, ed.,
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21 Lass, Minnesota, A History, p. 71.

22 Parker, Carver, pp. 90-91.

23 Ibid., pp. 92-94.

24 Ibid., pp. 115-17, 120.

25 Ibid., pp. 117-18.

26 Only a short time before, he says, the Chippewa had sent a belt and beaver
blanket seeking peace.  Ibid., p. 116.

27 Anderson, Kinsmen, p. 73.

28 Peter Pond, “The Narrative of Peter Pond,” in Charles M. Gates, ed., Five Fur
Traders of the Northwest (Minnesota Historical Society Press, 1965), pp. 44-46;
on Carver’s goals, see Parker, Carver, pp. 7-15.

29 Pond, “Narrative,” pp. 47-50; Anderson, Kinsmen, pp. 63-64.

30 Folwell, Minnesota, pp. 67-68.   

31 Lass, Minnesota, A History, p. 82; Anderson, Kinsmen, p. 79; Roy W. Meyer,
History of the Santee Sioux: United States Indian Policy on Trial, (Lincoln:
University of Nebraska Press, 1967; reprinted 1980), p. 24.

32 Zebulon Pike, Sources of the Mississippi and the Western Louisiana Territory,
(Ann Arbor, Michigan: University Microfilms, Inc., 1966; from Zebulon Pike,
An Account of Expeditions to the Sources of the Mississippi, Philadelphia,
Pennsylvania: C. & A. Conrad, & Co., 1810), pp. 1, 14, 22-24.

33 Ibid., pp. 23-24.

34 Ibid., pp. 24-26; Meyer, Santee, pp. 25-26; Anderson, Kinsmen, p. 80.  Le
Fils de Pinchow or Pinichon was the leader of a village up the Minnesota
River that had once been headed by Wabasha.  Wabasha had left this village to
go to the Mississippi River.  Meyer, Santee, p. 25.

35 Pike, Sources of the Mississippi, p. 24.

36 Ibid., pp. 29-30; quote p. 30.

37 Ibid., pp. 30, 93-94; quote p. 93.

38 Ibid., p. 28.

39 Ibid., p. 93; see pp. 92-93 for full statement.  

40 Anderson, Kinsmen, pp. 84-85.

41 Anderson, Kinsmen, pp. 87-91; Lass, Minnesota, A History, p. 83.

42 On page 79, Anderson, Kinsmen, says that the tribe “had undergone con-
siderable change over the two decades since Ainse’s visit.” Then, on page 81,
he says that overall the eastern Sioux population and lifestyle remained
essentially the same between the time of Pond and Ainse and Pike.  This cap-
tures the dilemma many Native American historians faced.  They had to
acknowledge that important changes occurred as a result of European and
American expansion, and yet, important parts of the Native American way of
life stayed the same.

43 Pond, “Narrative,” pp. 44, 56.

44 Pond, “Narrative,” p. 56; Anderson, Kinsmen, p. 79. 

45 Anderson, Kinsmen, quote p. 81, see  pp. 80-81.

46 Lass, Minnesota, A History, p. 84.

47 Anderson, Kinsmen, pp. 92-95.

48 The account of Long’s effort to beat Pike comes from William H. Keating’s
narrative of Long’s 1823 expedition.  See William H. Keating, Narrative of an
Expedition to the Source of the St. Peter’s River, Lake Winnepeek, Lake of the
Woods, &c, Performed in the Year 1823 by the Order of the Hon. J. C. Calhoun,
Secretary of War, under the Command of Stephen H. Long, U.S.T.E., p. 297.

49 Lucile M. Kane, June D. Holmquist, and Carolyn Gilman, edited, The
Northern Expeditions of Stephen H. Long, the Journals of 1817 and 1823 and
Related Documents, (St. Paul: Minnesota Historical Society Press, 1978), p. 66.

50 Keating, Narrative, pp. 297-98.

51 Kane, Northern Expeditions, pp. 65-67; quote p. 66.

52 Ibid., p. 67. 

53 Kane, Northern Expeditions, pp. 67-68, 69.  For an account of what hap-
pened to Carver’s Cave, see Charles T. Burnley, “Case of the Vanishing
Historic Site or What Happened to Carver’s Cave?” Ramsey County History
4:2 (Fall, 1967):8-12.

54 Keating, Narrative, p. 300.

55 Kane, Northern Expeditions, pp. 68-69, quote, p. 68.  For an in-depth his-
tory of Fountain Cave, see Greg Brick, “St. Paul Underground–What
Happened to Fountain Cave–the Real Birthplace of St. Paul?” Ramsey County
History 29:4 (Winter, 1995):4-15.

56 Anderson, Kinsmen, pp. 95-96, see footnote 68 on O’Fallon’s account.  

57 Ibid., pp. 96-98.
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Folwell, Minnesota, p. 140.

59 Folwell, Minnesota, pp. 138-40; Lass, Minnesota, A History, p. 86; Steve
Hall, Fort Snelling: Colossus of the Wilderness, (St. Paul: Minnesota Historical
Society Press, 1987).

60 Anderson, Kinsmen, p. 101.

61 Ibid., pp. 103-04.

62 Keating, Narrative, pp. 302-03.

63 Anderson, Kinsmen, p. 106 ; Gary Clayton Anderson, Little Crow, Spokesman
for the Sioux, (St. Paul: Minnesota Historical Society Press, 1986), p. 27.

64 Anderson, Little Crow, pp. 25-26; Willoughby M. Babcock, Jr., “Sioux
Villages in Minnesota prior to 1837,” Minnesota Archaeologist 12 (October,
1945):136.

65 Anderson, Kinsmen, pp. 107-10, 130; Idem., Little Crow, p. 29.

66 Quoted in Anderson, Kinsmen, p. 128.

67 Anderson, Kinsmen, Chapter 7; Babcock, “Sioux Villages,” p. 137.

68 Anderson, Kinsmen, pp. 155, 158.

69 Ibid., pp. 159-60, 162, 165-66, 174-76. 

70 Babcock, “Sioux Villages,” p. 137, argues that those who say Kaposia
moved after the 1837 treaty are wrong.  “Taliaferro’s list of 1834,” he
insists, “shows this chief [Wakinyantanka] as head of the Kaposia band,
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contends, “The Taliaferro list of 1834, however, reinforced by his similar
locating of the band on his manuscript map of 1835, prove conclusively 
that the removal took place prior to 1834.” Although he writes after
Babcock, Anderson, Little Crow, pp. 30, 32, suggests that Little Crow III
(Wakinyantanka or Big Thunder) moved Kaposia across the river in 1838 as a
result of the 1837 treaty.

71 Anderson, Little Crow, p. 56.

72 Anderson, Kinsmen, pp. 180-82; 184-87; Idem., Little Crow, pp. 60-61.

73 Anderson, Little Crow, p. 61.

74 Ibid., p. 62.
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77 Anderson, Little Crow, pp. 65, 66; Idem., Kinsmen, pp. 189-90.
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79 Anderson, Little Crow, pp. 69-75.
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1 David A. Lanegran and Anne Mosher-Sheridan, “The European Settlement
of the Upper Mississippi River Valley: Cairo, Illinois, to Lake Itasca,
Minnesota–1540 to 1860,” in John S. Wozniak ed., Historic Lifestyles in the
Upper Mississippi River Valley, (New York: University Press of America,
1983), pp. 23-25; Tweet, A History of the Rock Island District, U.S. Army,
Corps of Engineers, 1866-1983, (Washington: U.S. Government Printing
Office, 1984), p. 39; William J. Petersen, Steamboating on the Upper
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7 Tweet, “History of Transportation on the Upper Mississippi and Illinois
Rivers,” p. 22.

8 Frederick J. Dobney, River Engineers of the Middle Mississippi: A History of
the St. Louis District, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, (Washington, D.C.: U.S.
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two locks and dams . . . .” This misplaces the authority for authorizing the
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(Bloomington, Minnesota: Voyageur, 1983); Paul Donald Hesterman, Interests,
Values, and Public Policy for an Urban River: A History of Development Along the
Mississippi River in Saint Paul, Minnesota (Ph.D. dissertation, University of
Minnesota, Minneapolis, 1985); Hesterman, “The Mississippi and St. Paul:
Change is a Constant for River and the City that Shaped It,” Ramsey County
History 21:1 (1986): 3-22; June Drenning Holmquist, ed., They Chose
Minnesota:  A Survey of the State’s Ethnic Groups (St. Paul, Minnesota:
Minnesota Historical Society Press, 1981); David Lanegran, “The
Neighborhood River,” in Carole Zellie, The Mississippi and St. Paul: A Planning
Study of Interpretive Potentials (unpublished report submitted to the Ramsey
County Historical Society and the National Endowment for the Humanities,
1988), pp. 37-102; Judith A. Martin and David Lanegran, Where We Live:  The
Residential Districts of Minneapolis and Saint Paul (Minneapolis, Minnesota:
Published by the University of Minnesota Press in association with the Center
for Urban and Regional Affairs, University of Minnesota, 1983); Larry,
Millett, Lost Twin Cities (St. Paul, Minnesota: Minnesota Historical Society
Press, 1992); Edward Duffield Neill, “St. Paul and Its Environs,” Minnesota
History v. 30 (1940):204-19; Warren Upham, Minnesota Geographic Names,
Their Origin and Historic Significance (St. Paul, 1969; reprint edition); J.
Fletcher Williams, A History of the City of St. Paul to 1875 (St. Paul, 1876;
reprint, Minnesota Historical Society Press, 1983).

A special notation must be made of the work of the Presbyterian minister
Edward Duffield Neill.  Neill was surely the most prolific early historian of
the state, being listed as a principal author of dozens of books on a variety of
subjects.  Four of these have been basic to the research undertaken for this
study: History of Hennepin County and the City of Minneapolis (Minneapolis,
Minnesota: North Star Publishing, 1881), History of the Upper Mississippi
Valley (North Star Publishing, 1881), History of Dakota County and the City of
Hastings (Minneapolis, Minnesota: North Star Publishing, 1881), and History
of Ramsey County and the City of St. Paul (Minneapolis, Minnesota: North Star
Publishing, 1881).  The similarities between these volumes extend beyond
their titles and publication dates.  Each volume, compiled by George E. Warner
and Charles M. Foote, has a nearly identical Table of Contents. Neill con-
tributed the first essay “Explorers and Pioneers of Minnesota,” and J. Fletcher
Williams followed with a year-by-year compilation of significant facts in the
state’s history between 1858 and 1881.  The following chapters varied slight-
ly from volume to volume but typically included an account of the Civil War
record of men from that county, a brief summary of the county’s leading
lawyers, its chief events, and other notations.  The bulk of each volume,
though, and the sections most directly important for this study, are the
detailed descriptions of the establishment and early settlement of the cities
and townships (“towns” in the late nineteenth century usage) of each county.
A great deal of the settlement story for this area, at least until around 1880, is
contained in these chapters.

The limitations of these books as analytical history or the “full story” are
obvious.  For example, women hardly appear at all; there is an implicitly
“Manifest Destiny” ideology to the books that treats Native Americans as obsta-
cles to “civilization,” and, once conquered, as objects of nostalgia.  Town settle-
ments are treated as heroic narratives of commercial enterprises and progres-
sions of industrial development.  This is not the place to discuss the reasons for
these patterns and biases, nor has there been time to conduct investigations
that would correct and enhance the pictures they depict.  Their use in the pres-
ent study should be understood as sources of important detail on one version of
the past and the Euro-American settlement of the MNRRA corridor

2 Some explanation of this typology is in order.  The historical and geographi-
cal literature defining towns, cities, population centers, etc., is large and com-
plex.  For the purposes of this study, a population center is considered as a
group of dwellings clustered more tightly than the surrounding agricultural
residence pattern and usually focusing on some non-residential establishment,
perhaps a school, church, or post office, but often a commercial establishment
such as a store or tavern.  “Urban Centers” are understood as those places with

71.  The present-day Robert Street Bridge in St. Paul is named for Louis Robert.
Neill, Hennepin, p. 299, says that a Joseph Holt began operating a ferry at
Champlin in 1855.  Either this is a second ferry that began operating between
Anoka and Champlin or Holt owned the Elm Creek and Anoka Ferry Company.
Williams, A History of St. Paul, pp. 237, 322.  He says the bridge opened in
1858, whereas Lisa Haller, Ivelise Brasch, Gary Phelps, and Bill Wolston,
“Crossings,” Over the Years, 31:1 (Dakota County Historical Society,
September 1991):5, say the bridge opened in 1859. Dorothy Goth, ed., St.
Paul Park’s Heritage: A History of Saint Paul Park on The Mississippi, 1887-
1895, (Cottage Grove, Minnesota: Inky Fingers Press, 1985), p. 56.

58 Zellie, “Hastings’ Historic Contexts,” p. 21.

59 Gillund, “Coon Rapids,” p. 3; James, “The history of Ramsey,” p. 10; Goodrich,
History of Anoka County, p. 51; Zellie, “Hastings’ Historic Contexts,” p. 22.

60 Goodrich, History of Anoka County, p. 51.

61 Vogel, “Cottage Grove History,” p. 3.  The Henry House, built in 1854 on a
military road, is still standing and is listed on the National Register.  See Vogel,
“Cottage Grove History,” p. 2.

62 Zellie, Hastings’ Historic Contexts, p. 23.  Lois A Glewwe, The History of Inver
Grove Heights, Minnesota’s Treasure, 1858-1990, (City of Inver Grove Heights,
1990), p. 204, mentions that a military road was built from Hastings to St. Paul
was “graded through as early as 1855 by the military crews of Captain William
Dodd.” She says it became known as the St. Paul to Hastings Road. 

63 Richard S. Prosser, Rails to the North Star, (Minneapolis, Minnesota: Dillon
Press, 1966), pp. 8-12, 17; Gillund, “Coon Rapids,” p. 4.  The St. Paul and
Pacific succeeded the Minnesota and Pacific, which had built the first line
from St. Paul to St. Anthony in 1862.  See Gillund, “Coon Rapids,” p. 4.

64 Prosser, Rails, pp.17, 35.

65 MRC Chart Nos. 185-89, 201-05 (1895 and 1898).

66 MRC Chart No. 201, 1898.

67 Hesterman, “The Mississippi and St. Paul.”

68 Hesterman, “The Mississippi and St. Paul,” pp. 9, 14; MRC Chart Nos. 186-
89.  On Hastings, see  Zellie, “Hastings’ Historic Contexts,” pp. 21, 22.  Other
than railyards at the city’s center, she says, p. 24, “the Milwaukee Railroad
Depot (1884) is among the best evidence of the early transportation context.”

69 Hesterman, “The Mississippi and St. Paul,” p. 10.

70 Hesterman, “The Mississippi and St. Paul,” pp. 4-5, 10.

71 Ibid., pp. 6, 9, 12, 14.

72 Ibid., pp. 6, 10.

73 John R. Borchert, “The Network of Urban Centers,” in Minnesota in a
Century of Change, p. 69.

74 Borchert, “The Network of Urban Centers,” pp. 69-70; Baerwald, “Forces at
Work on the Landscape,” in Minnesota in a Century of Change, pp. 23-24;
Gillund, “Coon Rapids,” p. 12; Zellie, “Hastings’ Historic Contexts,” pp. 21-22.

75 Borchert, “The Network of Urban Centers,” pp. 71, 84, 86-87; Baerwald,
“Forces at Work on the Landscape,” p. 20.

76 Goth, ed., St. Paul Park’s Heritage, p. 56.

77 Minnesota Department of Natural Resources, Metro Area River Guide: A
guide to boating the Mississippi, St. Croix and Minnesota rivers,” 1994, pro-
vides the river miles for the river above St. Anthony Falls as well as below.

78 Guelcher, Nininger, p. 85.

79 Kane, St. Anthony, p. 40; Haller, et al., “Crossings,” pp. 4-9, 20-21; the
entire issue is about bridges.
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a sufficient concentration of commercial enterprises to result in a degree of
specialization and perhaps spatial ordering into a “commercial district” or
“downtown.”

Research for this study clearly indicates that the relative importance of a
particular population center changed dramatically over time and in relation to
other centers.  For example, Nininger, now a semi-urban enclave between St. Paul
and Hastings, was once a substantial center with a population of over 1,000.  By
contrast, the present municipality of Coon Rapids did not exist until 1952,
when the Village of Coon Rapids was formed from Anoka Township.  The present
study is intended to be more descriptive than analytical; therefore, the categories
have been developed as a rudimentary attempt to sort out the dominant popula-
tion threads throughout the region during the study period.

3 Isaac, Atwater, ed., History of the City of Minneapolis (New York: Munsell &
Co., 1893), p. 69.
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5 Millett, Lost Twin Cities, p. 10.

6 Upham, Minnesota Geographic Names, p. 439.
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